

www.pce.parliament.nz

Levin landfill: Environmental management review

August 2008



Parliamentary Commissioner for the **Environment** Te Kaitiaki Taiao a Te Whare Pāremata

Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment Te Kaitiaki Taiao a Te Whare Pāremata

PO Box 10 241 Wellington 6143 New Zealand Tel 64 4 471 1669 Fax 64 4 495 8350 Email pce@pce.parliament.nz www.pce.parliament.nz

August 2008 Reprint June 2009

ISBN 978-1-877274-19-0 (print) 978-877274-20-6 (electronic)

Levin landfill: Environmental management review

August 2008



Parliamentary Commissioner for the **Environment** Te Kaitiaki Taiao a Te Whare Pāremata

Acknowledgements

The Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment and her investigation team would like to thank all those who assisted with the research and preparation of this report.

Investigation Team Yazmin Juned, Shaun Killerby, Dana Moran

Internal Reviewer Dr Simon Watts

External Reviewers

Paul Beverley, Partner, Buddle Findlay; David Allen, Senior Associate, Buddle Findlay; Sarah Jenkin, Associate Environmental Planner, URS New Zealand

External Comments

Horowhenua District Council; Horizons Regional Council

Production

Layout: Toolbox Creative Printing: The Printroom Cover photo: Phillip Capper

Bibliographic Reference

Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment. 2008. Levin landfill: Environmental management review. Wellington: Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment

This document may be copied provided that the source is acknowledged.

This report and other publications by the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment (PCE) are available on the PCE's website: **www.pce.parliament.nz**

Contents

Preface					
1.	Introduction				
	1.1	The Commissioner's decision to investigate	5		
	1.2	Remit and Terms of Reference	6		
2.	Background				
	2.1	Location of the Levin landfill	7		
	2.2	Local concerns	8		
	2.3	Site history	8		
3.	Expe	10			
4.	Horo	12			
	4.1	Resource consent conditions	12		
	4.2	Monitoring requirements	13		
	4.3	Local Government Act	14		
	4.4	Section 17 RMA and other legal obligations	14		
5.	Horiz	15			
	5.1	Site inspections	15		
	5.2	Monitoring and enforcement action taken	15		
6.	Com	17			
	6.1	Consent condition requirements	17		
	6.2	The future	17		
7.	Look	19			
	7.1	Alternatives	19		
	7.2	Waste policy	20		
	7.3	Enforcement	20		
8.	Com	21			
	8.1	Horowhenua District Council (HDC)	21		
	8.2	Horizons Regional Council	23		
Appendix 1: Examples of historic non-compliance					
Appendix 2: Examples of historic monitoring and enforcement					
Endnotes					

Figures

Figure 1:	Position of Levin	landfill site		7
-----------	-------------------	---------------	--	---

Preface

The Levin landfill is located in the Horowhenua District, four kilometres west of Levin. A landfill of some kind has existed on the site since the 1950s. For many years local residents have been concerned about the environmental effects of the landfill site, particularly given its proximity to the Hokio Stream. Some of those concerns were addressed through resource consent conditions in 2002. However, others have remained unresolved.

As a result of complaints made by concerned local citizens, my predecessor, Dr Morgan Williams, initiated an investigation in 2004. On taking office in 2007, I reviewed that investigation and, in light of ongoing concerns, decided to bring the investigation to a conclusion. This report contains findings from the investigation and recommendations for future landfill development and management.

The investigation has focused on the management of the site since resource consents were granted in 2002. It is not a review of historic issues raised before those consents were granted. The report aims to provide constructive guidance and advice to the two local councils about future management of the Levin landfill site, and to address local community concerns.

My recommendations to Horowhenua District Council, the consent holder for the site, and to Horizons Regional Council, the regulating authority, are listed on pages 21 to 24. Particular note has been made of a proposed notified consent review. This is an opportunity for the local community to participate in the decisionmaking process, and for the councils to address identified operational issues and community concerns via revised consent conditions. Recommendations have also been made regarding long-term planning for waste in the district; both through the need to plan for alternatives and the development of long-term policies that promote waste minimisation and alternative disposal methods.

More recently, I have become aware of local concerns about waste being imported to the site from outside the district. I have also received a complaint about piping leachate from the site. Both of these issues are outside the terms of reference for this report. However, there would be merit in the two local authorities considering these issues further when looking at the consent conditions for this site, as well as the long-term plans for waste in the district more generally.

The completion of this report has been helped greatly by the cooperation of both the local councils and the local community, and I would like to thank them for their assistance throughout the investigation.

g.c. Wifes

Dr Jan Wright Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment



Introduction

1.1 The Commissioner's decision to investigate

In 2004 the then Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment, Dr Morgan Williams, received complaints from several members of the local community expressing concern about the management and environmental effects of the Levin landfill.

In September 2004, following preliminary analysis of background material, members of the Commissioner's office visited the landfill and met with tangata whenua, other representatives from the local community, and staff from Horowhenua District Council (HDC) and Horizons Regional Council (Horizons). On the basis of the visit and concerns about the management and effects of the landfill, the Commissioner decided to investigate further.

On 27 April 2005 the Commissioner wrote to Horizons (copied to HDC), recommending that Horizons, as the regional council, should carefully consider the merits of initiating a review of certain conditions of permits. Following the Commissioner's letter, Horizons initiated a non-notified review of consent conditions for the landfill in April 2005 and began negotiations with HDC.

The Commissioner had originally planned to wait until the consent review was completed before deciding whether to investigate this matter further. However, given the delay in progressing the consent review, in July 2007 the new Commissioner, Dr Jan Wright, decided to start an investigation. She prepared this report in accordance with the terms of reference set out in on page 6.

Horizons is likely to decide to publicly notify a new consent review that will supersede previous negotiations between Horizons and HDC. It is understood that a final decision on this will be made in August 2008, with hearings to be held in November 2008.

Notwithstanding the proposed review, the Commissioner considers that there is significant merit in releasing this report now, given the concerns of the local community and the importance of the outcome of the proposed review.

1.2 Remit and Terms of Reference

Pursuant to s 16(1)(b) of the Environment Act 1986, the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment (the Commissioner) has the function:

...where the Commissioner considers it necessary, to investigate the effectiveness of environmental planning and environmental management carried out by public authorities, and advise them on any remedial action the Commissioner considers desirable.

This report has been prepared in accordance with s 16(1)(b) to provide information and guidance to HDC, Horizons, and members of the community. This information and advice relates to the following matters:

- Assessing the performance of those responsible for the Levin landfill subsequent to the granting of resource consents for the site in 2002, in relation to:
 - concerns raised by tangata whenua
 - community consultation
 - compliance with resource consent conditions
 - monitoring and enforcement of consent conditions
 - compliance with the requirements of the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) and other relevant legislation.
- Assessing governance and operational changes which could improve the future performance of the landfill.
- How these changes may be achieved, under the existing legislative framework and including the proposed consent review.

The purpose of this report is not to re-investigate the issues in the 1994–2002 application and appeal process. Nor does it intend to address the wider questions regarding waste importation, except to the extent that this could affect the service life of the current site. Rather, the intention is to consider the management of the site since the consents were granted, with a focus on matters relating to "avoiding, remedying or mitigating any adverse effects of activities on the environment" and community consultation. Consideration is also given to the need for appropriate future planning, preferably well before the operative landfill reaches design capacity.

Apart from access to information, the Environment Act 1986 provides the Commissioner with advisory powers only. This report is therefore limited to making recommendations.



Background

2.1 Location of the Levin landfill

The Levin landfill is located on Hokio Beach Road in the Horowhenua District, 4 kilometres west of Levin. The landfill site is in undulating sand country surrounded by pastoral farming, with the Hokio Stream (the single outlet of Lake Horowhenua) close to the northern boundary. This stream flows west to the sea, 2.5 kilometres away.

Figure 1: Position of Levin landfill site



Source: URS

2.2 Local concerns

Of concern to local iwi is the potential effect of the landfill on Hokio Stream and waahi tapu in the area. The Ngātokowaru marae (Ngāti Pareraukawa, Ngāti Raukawa) is located about 500 metres northeast of the landfill property, while the Kawiu marae (Muaupoko) is on the northern shore of Lake Horowhenua to the east. Tangata whenua have a special connection to both the groundwater and surface water. The Hokio Stream has traditionally been a source of food such as eels, drinking water, recreation, identity and cultural learning. Shellfish are gathered from the coast near the stream mouth. Archaeological sites in the area include shell middens and possible burial sites.

2.3 Site history

Pre-1994

In the 1950s a small rubbish dump was developed next to the area now occupied by the modern landfill. This was one of many dumps in the district, each servicing the town nearby. Upon reaching capacity in the mid-1970s, a second dump was opened on the site. By this stage there was local concern about degrading environmental quality in the area, as the sewage scheme for the growing town of Levin included discharge through Lake Horowhenua and Hokio Stream to the coast. This concern eventually led to the Lake Horowhenua and Hokio Stream Catchment Management Strategy in 1997, which aimed to improve in-stream water quality. Groundwater continues to be used, particularly as stock-water on farms in the area.

Before 1992, most New Zealand landfills were no more than local dumps that were often poorly sited, designed and managed. It is estimated that there were more than 1,000 such landfills.¹ With the introduction of the RMA, more stringent requirements began to be introduced. As a result, many small dumps were closed; nationally, the number of dumps decreased from 327 in 1995 to 115 in 2002.² Closing the old landfill at Levin, and constructing a new one, was part of this rapid adjustment.

A discussion paper for a draft Solid Waste Management Strategy for the Horowhenua District was developed in 1992. This paper, which discussed possible future options, was released for public comment with the 1992/93 Annual Plan. The Foxton, Foxton Beach, Tokomaru and Shannon landfills were then closed by 1996, with Levin retained as the one landfill for the district.

Post-1994: the consent process

As the old Levin landfill site was scheduled to reach capacity in the late 1990s, HDC lodged an application for resource consents for a new landfill site (adjacent to the old one) in September 1994. The district also needed an immediate replacement for the closed dumps.

As part of the consent application process, a hui was held at the Kawiu marae in February 1995. Members of the public, including tangata whenua, were invited to attend and to provide feedback on the Council's proposed landfill extension. The proposal was strongly opposed, with calls for alternative sites to be investigated. In response to various concerns expressed at the hui, several major changes were made to the consent application, including adding a synthetic liner. These changes were presented at a second hui at Kawiu marae in October 1995, but there was continuing opposition to the proposal from tangata whenua.

As HDC needed to develop a new landfill immediately, the revised applications were lodged with Horizons in October 1995. At this time there were disputes over the extent to which:

- the two hui met legal requirements for consultation with tangata whenua
- appropriate steps were being taken to identify and protect potential wāhi tapu
- alternative sites had been considered.

As a consequence, Horizons deferred hearing the resource consent applications until their lwi Liaison Officer had prepared a report on the first two matters.

Horizons reached a decision in favour of all but one resource consent application for the new landfill in 1997. The decisions on all five consents were, however, appealed to the Environment Court. At this point the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment was called upon to investigate matters relating to consultation and protection of wāhi tapu. Several Court mediation meetings were held in 2000, with the resource consents finally being approved in 2002 via an Environment Court consent order (Judge Allin).

The outcome of the application and appeal process involved three aspects:

- 1. Protecting wahi tapu (discharge permit 6009, specific condition 30)
- 2. Forming a Neighbourhood Liaison Group (discharge permit 6009, specific conditions 32, 33 and 34)
- 3. Monitoring leachate into groundwater (various consent conditions).

The new landfill was completed and opened in 2004. At that time the old landfill, which had reached its original intended capacity around 1997, was closed and capped. The *1998/99 National Landfill Census Report*³ acknowledges, however, that landfills continue to affect the environment for 30–50 years after closure. As a consequence, the objectives of the National Landfill Census include:

- Closed landfills to be monitored and managed effectively
- All operative landfills to be consented and compliant with conditions
- These conditions to reflect nationally consistent standards of environmental management.



Expert report

In November 2007, the Commissioner arranged for an independent landfill expert (Tonkin and Taylor) to conduct a technical and environmental impact review of the old and new Levin landfills. This review was intended to assist in completing the Commissioner's investigation of the landfill. The Tonkin and Taylor report is available on the PCE website and summarised below.

Tonkin and Taylor find that the old unlined landfill is not atypical of older landfills in New Zealand, and was "developed and operated to what were, by and large, the standards of the day". They conclude that current management of the old landfill site appears to conform with the consent conditions, although some of those conditions are ambiguous. Monitoring results show evidence of increasing impacts on groundwater quality, but that the information in the monitoring reports is insufficient to evaluate the significance of the impacts on the surrounding environment. Although levels of contaminants are generally low, the high level of ammonia is of concern. The authors note that some design and operational improvements and safeguards could be introduced to reduce the risk of effects.

The new landfill is considered to be an improvement on the older landfill in technical terms, and in most cases appears to be operated at a satisfactory level to manage environmental effects. However, the consent conditions are considered to fall short of current and best practice. Tonkin and Taylor note a number of alleged historic breaches of the consent conditions, but also regard the recent appointment of a Solid Waste Officer at HDC as a positive step. They conclude that some design, operational and management aspects of the new landfill could be improved to bring it in line with accepted norms and best practice elsewhere in New Zealand. They make five recommendations:

- Confirmation of required structure, actions and timetable for compliance reporting and management including, if deemed appropriate by Horizons, incorporating a peer review process for ongoing design, operations and monitoring.
- A review by HDC of the site operations contract for adequacy in relation to meeting the performance criteria set out in the conditions of the consent.
- A review by HDC of recommendations made in the report relating to aspects of the detailed design of the new landfill site.

- A comprehensive, independent review of the results of monitoring to date and of the implications of this review for the monitoring conditions for groundwater and surface water systems.
- A review of other general conditions of consent where these depart from accepted norms, particularly those related to waste acceptance and hazardous waste disposal.

The Commissioner has considered these points in forming her own recommendations on this matter.



Horowhenua District Council: Compliance

Horowhenua District Council (HDC) is the consent holder for the Levin landfill. As such, it holds primary responsibility for ensuring compliance with the conditions of the resource consents for the site.

4.1 Resource consent conditions

Consent conditions will be most effective where the consent holder places sufficient importance on the need for compliance. Where conditions impose a regime of self-monitoring and reporting, the onus is increased on the consent holder to ensure that it has an adequate monitoring and reporting framework in place which is capable of both identifying and responding to potential breaches at an early stage.

Historic breaches of resource consent conditions are relevant to the long-term future management of a site. By identifying areas where non-compliance has occurred in the past, resources and consent review processes can be better targeted to improving future compliance. With this in mind, a sample of historic examples of non-compliance at the Levin landfill site, as recorded in the Horizons monitoring reports, is outlined in Appendix 1.

This report is not intended to provide a comprehensive compliance history. It is anticipated that such a report will be compiled by Horizons in preparing for the proposed consent review (see pages 15 and 16). However, items of significance noted from the monitoring reports include:

- incomplete monitoring data (condition 3, consent 6010)
- leachate run-off other than to the irrigation areas (condition 19, consent 6010)
- Neighbourhood Liaison Group meetings not convened at regular intervals and members not supplied with required monitoring data (conditions 32–34, consent 6009)
- remediation of the old landfill (selection of vegetation cover and time taken to cap site) other than in accordance with the Landfill Management Plan (condition 14, consent 6009).

The recent appointment of a Solid Waste Officer at HDC is welcome and represents a positive step towards ensuring future compliance. It is important that any

appointee in this role has both appropriate expertise and sufficient delegated responsibility to ensure compliance with consent conditions.

However, the consent conditions are considered to be of a standard that is less than current or best practice. This makes it likely that more stringent conditions will arise out of the consent review. It is therefore recommended that further consideration is given to the means by which compliance with any revised conditions will be assured following the outcome of that review.

How this may be achieved is for the two local authorities to determine, but could include a review of the site operations contract for its ability to meet the performance criteria set out in the conditions of consent. It is noted that effective changes are likely to require greater internal priority to be given to compliance issues. This, in turn, is likely to require the support of both the management team and councillors.

Specific amendments to the consent conditions recommended for further consideration during the review process are noted at the end of this report.

4.2 Monitoring requirements

In 2005/06 HDC recognised that compliance with consent monitoring requirements had become problematic. As a result, the council opted to use external resources to carry out the monitoring requirements, engaging a contractor in January 2007. In relation to this contract, the following observations are noted.

- Some of the non-compliance with conditions reported by Horizons relates to insufficient or late monitoring data. For example, there was a delay in reporting October 2006 exceedences to either HDC or Horizons until May 2007.
- There appears to have been some initial lack of clarity regarding the allocation of responsibilities between HDC and its monitoring contractors. For example, correspondence from the Council's monitoring contractors in May 2007 indicates confusion as to where and when exceedences should be reported pursuant to conditions 11–13 of discharge 6010.
- It is unclear what management actions were taken by HDC in response to the monitoring results, particularly where exceedences were reported.

Given the enforcement and reputational risks associated with non-compliance, it is recommended that HDC take steps to ensure that future outsourcing of monitoring work is accompanied by clear instructions as to when, how and to whom monitoring results should be reported.

Monitoring environmental effects should not be confused with managing those effects – monitoring is the process by which information is obtained for the purposes of informed decision making on managing the effects. To ensure adequate management of the monitoring requirements within HDC, responsibility should be clearly assigned at officer level within the Council for:

- monitoring and enforcing the contract
- reviewing the monitoring data and responding as necessary.

4.3 Local Government Act

The previous two sections have considered HDC's responsibilities under the RMA. However, the special status of HDC as a local authority is noted. This includes, in particular, its purpose under s 10 of the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) to promote the social, economic, cultural and environmental well-being of its communities, both now and in the future. This purpose places an additional onus on HDC to implement good environmental management practices, irrespective of the conditions of the resource consents; a breach of resource consent conditions is likely to be viewed as incompatible with these responsibilities.

4.4 Section 17 RMA and other legal obligations

The duty on HDC under s 17 of the RMA to "...avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse effects on the environment" is also noted, together with the wider expectation that activities will not give rise to a common law cause of action, such as an action in nuisance or under the rule in Rylands v Fletcher.⁴ For example, incidents such as windblown litter, stormwater contamination and leachate breakouts resulting in external land or water contamination could potentially amount to a breach of s 17 as well as, in some circumstances, an actionable nuisance.

These obligations exist independently of compliance with resource consent conditions, and may require additional compliance measures to be implemented over and above those set by the resource consent conditions.



Horizons Regional Council: Monitoring and enforcement

Primary responsibility for compliance rests with the consent holder, HDC.

As the regional council, however, Horizons is responsible under the RMA for monitoring compliance with the conditions of the landfill site resource consents by HDC. It also has the power to take enforcement action in the event of a breach.

5.1 Site inspections

Horizons is commended on the fact that site inspections have, on the whole, been carried out regularly. As a result, the council has the data available to prepare a detailed compliance history. It is recommended that this history is prepared for the proposed consent review to inform a decision about revising the current consent conditions.

5.2 Monitoring and enforcement action taken

Monitoring and enforcement of the consent conditions, however, has been unsatisfactory in a number of areas. Key examples, as recorded in the Horizons monitoring reports, are outlined in more detail at Appendix 2, but include:

- delays in approving the Landfill Management Plan for the new landfill and inadequate scrutiny of the same Landfill Management Plan's provisions, particularly in relation to the capping and aftercare of the site
- inadequate enforcement of the approved Landfill Management Plans, particularly in relation to the capping and planting of the old landfill
- delays in progressing a review of consent conditions
- monitoring delays and insufficient enforcement action in relation to investigating exceedences and leachate breakouts since October 2004
- inadequate consideration given to whether activities on site amounted to a breach of s 17 RMA and, if so, whether enforcement action was needed.

Of particular concern is the finding in the Tonkin and Taylor report that monitoring information available from the site is inadequate to make a full assessment of the environmental effects of the landfill site. The proposed review is welcomed as an opportunity to remedy this issue by the implementation of an appropriate

monitoring framework in the future. It is recommended that the proposed review be undertaken as a priority.

To inform a decision on an appropriate monitoring framework, it is also recommended that an independent review of existing monitoring data and methods be undertaken in preparation for the consent review.

Irrespective of the outcome of the proposed consent review, Horizons will need to satisfy the local community that standards of monitoring and enforcement action will be improved in the future. The Neighbourhood Liaison Group (NLG) is one way that regular monitoring and enforcement information can be made available to the community in the future. Further consideration is given to the role of the NLG in the following section on community liaison.



Community liaison

6.1 Consent condition requirements

As early as February 1995, HDC recognised the need for community liaison as part of the resource consent conditions for the landfill. The consent process resulted in three specific conditions being attached to discharge permit 6009 (conditions 32, 33 and 34). HDC, as consent holder, was required to establish a Neighbourhood Liaison Group (NLG) including representatives of the Lake Horowhenua Trustees, the owners and occupiers of specified properties adjoining the landfill, a representative from each of the HDC and Horizons, and other parties invited by the consent holder. The conditions provide, among other things, that the NLG:

- meet at least once a year
- receive a copy of the annual report
- be allowed to inspect operations on the site
- be consulted as a group prior to any review of the consent conditions
- be provided with a copy of all monitoring reports and non-commercially sensitive documentation pertaining to the operation of the landfill
- be kept informed about whether progress is being made towards a regional landfill
- receive formal acknowledgement and consideration of members' written suggestions.

In April 2007, the Council was found to be non-complying with conditions 33–34, not having convened an NLG meeting since January 2005 and having failed to provide an annual report. The Council stated that the 2006 meeting was overlooked due to an organisational review and a misunderstanding as to which officer would initiate the meetings. As a consequence, an on-site meeting was convened in May 2007.

6.2 The future

To avoid a repetition of the events described above, HDC needs to develop and maintain clear responsibilities for providing information and invitations to the NLG. Furthermore, the NLG must be informed before any consent conditions are reviewed, as per condition 34(d)(iii) of discharge permit 6009.

It is imperative, given the level of public concern (particularly among tangata whenua) regarding this landfill, that effective neighbourhood liaison is maintained. Indeed, the Council is obliged to do so under the terms of the consents and such an approach is consistent with good practice under the LGA (particularly s 77 and s 82). Given the importance of the issues of water quality and waahi tapu to the Ngaati Raukawa and Muaupoko, it is recommended that representatives from each iwi are given the opportunity to be included in the NLG.

At the same time, it is important that such a forum is not perceived, by HDC or the NLG, as a means for the community to interfere with site operations undertaken in accordance with the conditions of resource consents, nor as a medium for enforcing consent conditions. Similarly, the NLG cannot require the consent holder to comply with recommendations arising from meetings. Rather, the purpose of such a group is to ensure that the consent holder provides the opportunity for site neighbours and interested groups to meet with them and discuss issues related to the site as they affect the local community. Such liaison is only likely to be effective, however, if supported by the consent holder – in this case HDC.⁵



Looking to the future

7.1 Alternatives

When HDC originally acknowledged the need for community liaison, the intent was to consider – well in advance – alternative options for landfill sites and disposal facilities. Indeed, the HDC Application for Resource Consents: Levin Landfill (March 1995) states:

During public consultation there was criticism that no alternative to the activity and/or site was being examined by the Council. The policy of continued use of the Levin landfill site had been public for several years and had never previously been questioned. In response to this recent expression of concern the District Council has decided that it will investigate alternative landfill sites/disposal facilities, with progress reviews at 5 yearly intervals... The District Council also decided to establish a working party to oversee and participate in the investigation and review of alternative sites consisting of representatives of the Council, the tangata whenua, the Department of Conservation and possibly others. It is anticipated that these would be conditions of the consent for "discharge to land".

The Operations Manager at HDC at the time later submitted evidence that an invitation was made to form such a working party, yet the only reply was from the Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand.

Following this, the draft HDC Waste Management Plan 1999 proposed "Research/ study of alternative disposal options including investigating a Regional Scheme". Given the lessons of the past few years, it is imperative to consider the issue of a future landfill well in advance of the operating landfill reaching capacity. Considerable time will be needed to:

- identify and evaluate any alternative sites
- develop baseline monitoring data
- consult effectively with interested parties
- obtain resource consents
- construct a new facility.

The resource consents granted in 2002 are for a period of 35 years (to 2037). Assuming a worst case scenario of:

- 1. reaching design capacity as early as 2027 due to increasing waste streams
- 2. a period of 10 years to identify and evaluate sites, obtain resource consents and construct a new landfill...

... then such planning would need to start as early as 2017.

In other words, such planning needs to be instigated within the next 10 years if it is to reach recommendations on future waste provision early enough to contribute to the consenting process.

It may be that after evaluating alternative sites, the vicinity of the current site is found to be preferable. There cannot be informed consideration, however, without careful scientific investigation and community consultation.

7.2 Waste policy

The consideration of alternative sites, discussed above, should take place in the context of ongoing development of district-wide waste policy, in accordance with the principles set out in the New Zealand Waste Strategy.⁶

This will enable consideration of the future of the Levin landfill site to occur within a framework of planning for waste minimisation, developing alternative waste disposal methods, and setting district waste targets.

As the New Zealand Waste Strategy deals with the content of this policy framework, it is not considered necessary to detail it further here. However, the role of community consultation within the Strategy, for example in relation to setting local waste targets, is noted. A working party, as proposed back in 1995, may be one means of achieving this consultation.

7.3 Enforcement

Horizons does not currently have an RMA enforcement policy, although it is understood that one is being drafted. Given the history of breaches on the Levin landfill site, and the lack of enforcement action taken to date, it is recommended that Horizons gives careful consideration to the terms of its proposed enforcement policy, and to adopting it without delay. The policy should aim to provide support for enforcement action in the future, at all levels within the Council. It can also help enforcement officers and consent holders by providing clear guidance on the circumstances in which enforcement action will be taken and the type of action that may be expected.



Commissioner's recommendations

8.1 Horowhenua District Council (HDC)

Governance

Increased priority should be given at all levels within HDC to compliance with resource consent conditions and other legal obligations.

There has been a history of resource consent condition breaches on this site, some of which have been recurring. Consent conditions will be most effective where the consent holder places sufficient importance on the need for compliance. Where, as in this case, conditions impose a regime of self-monitoring and reporting, the onus is increased on the consent holder to ensure that it has an adequate monitoring and reporting framework in place, both internally and via external contracts. This framework must be supported by adequate importance being given to compliance with the consent conditions at all levels within HDC.

I recommend that:

1. a review is undertaken by HDC of the site operations contract for adequacy in relation to meeting the performance criteria set out in the conditions of the consent

A review will help ensure that the increased emphasis placed on compliance by HDC is transferred through to the site contractor. The proposed consent condition review is also likely to give rise to the need for a contract review.

I recommend that:

2. HDC develops and maintains clear responsibilities for providing information and invitations to the Neighbourhood Liaison Group

There have historically been a number of breaches of the conditions requiring community liaison via the Neighbourhood Liaison Group. It is imperative, given the level of public concern (particularly among tangata whenua) regarding this landfill, that effective neighbourhood liaison is maintained.

I recommend that:

3. HDC takes steps to ensure that contracted monitoring work is accompanied by clear instructions, and that responsibility for monitoring and enforcing such contracts is clearly assigned at officer level within the Council Historically, there appears to have been a lack of clarity regarding the allocation of responsibilities between HDC and its monitoring contractors. As a result, some monitoring data was either absent or reported late. It is also unclear whether adequate steps were taken within the Council in response to those instances where exceedences were reported.

Site design

I recommend that:

4. a formal review of site design is undertaken by HDC with regard to the recommendations made in the Tonkin and Taylor report relating to aspects of the detailed design of the new landfill site

Tonkin and Taylor found that the new landfill was an improvement on the older landfill in technical terms. However, they concluded that some design, operational and management aspects of the new landfill could be improved to bring it in line with accepted norms and best practice elsewhere in New Zealand.

Future planning

I recommend that:

 HDC undertakes long-term waste strategy planning, including developing waste minimisation policies and alternative disposal methods, together with identifying and evaluating alternative sites for future landfill requirements

The HDC Application for Resource Consents: Levin Landfill of March 1995 stated an intention to investigate alternative landfill sites/disposal facilities, with progress reviews at 5-yearly intervals. Given community concerns about the current site, planning for the future of the area's waste needs remains an important requirement. Such planning should take place in accordance with the principles set out in the New Zealand Waste Strategy.⁷

I recommend that:

6. a working party is established within the next 10 years to help identify and evaluate a future landfill site and to help develop a wider district waste strategy. The working party's remit should be to reach recommendations on future waste provision early enough to contribute to the consenting process. This working party should include, representatives of tangata whenuain addition to other significant interest groups in the district, representatives of tangata whenua

The resource consents granted in 2002 are for a period of 35 years (to 2037). Assuming a worst case scenario of: a) reaching design capacity as early as 2027 due to increasing waste streams; and b) a period of 10 years to identify and evaluate sites, obtain resource consents and construct a new landfill, then such planning would need to start as early as 2017. In other words, such planning needs to be instigated within the next 10 years. The 1995 resource consent application also stated that it would establish a working party to oversee and participate in the investigation and review of alternative sites. This continues to be a relevant requirement for the future of waste planning in the area.

8.2 Horizons Regional Council

Consent review

I recommend that:

7. the proposed consent review is undertaken by Horizons as a matter of priority and without further delay

Given the compliance history of the site, monitoring results and community concerns, the proposed consent review should not be further delayed. Recommendations 7a) to f) address the process and substance of that consent review.

- a. The review process and timeframes are established by Horizons from the outset so that all parties are clear as to the likely timeframe for completion of the review, as well as opportunities for participation in the process.
- b. Horizons prepares a full compliance history review of the site before the proposed consent review.
- c. A comprehensive, independent review is commissioned of the results of monitoring to date and the adequacy of the monitoring programme. This review should be used to inform a decision on an appropriate future monitoring framework to be incorporated into the consent as revised conditions.
- d. A framework is established for consent compliance reporting and management including, if deemed appropriate by Horizons, incorporating a peer review process for ongoing design, operations and monitoring. These requirements should be incorporated into the consent as revised conditions.
- e. A review is undertaken of the other general conditions of the consents where these depart from accepted norms, particularly those related to waste acceptance and hazardous waste disposal.
- f. Specific conditions to which consideration should be given in the consent review include:
 - the changes proposed in the Tonkin and Taylor report, as per recommendation 4 above
 - in the event that the water quality standards specified in the consent conditions are breached, a requirement on HDC to investigate to determine if the breach is attributable to activities on site and, if so, to take remedial action
 - where conditions currently require data to be made available on request by Horizons, to require that data be supplied automatically at appropriate intervals
 - that representatives from each iwi are given the opportunity to be formally included in the Neighbourhood Liaison Group via the consent conditions.

Governance

I recommend that:

8. Horizons establishes clear responsibilities for the timely monitoring and enforcement of resource consent conditions, the performance of which is capable of being assessed at officer level

Although regular site monitoring took place, there appears to have been inadequate consideration of how breaches of consent conditions and exceedences in the monitoring data should be handled. It is important that both the Council and community are able to monitor the Council's performance in these areas and address shortfalls.

I recommend that:

9. consideration is given to adopting an enforcement policy, the terms of which should provide sufficient support, guidance and authority for future enforcement action

The compliance history of the site indicates that, for a variety of reasons, enforcement action has been inadequate, despite an adequate monitoring programme. The absence of an enforcement policy may have led to a lack of clarity for both enforcement officers and consent holders. Consideration should be given to adopting an enforcement policy in future. The policy should aim to provide enforcement officers with sufficient support, guidance and authority to commence enforcement action where appropriate.

Appendix 1 : Examples of historic non-compliance

- Various dates: the monitoring reports submitted by HDC indicate that the water standards set out in conditions 11–13 of consent 6010 were exceeded on a number of occasions. While these exceedences appear to have been communicated to Horizons, it is unclear what steps were taken by HDC "to determine if further investigation or remedial measures are required", as required by the consent conditions.
- 31 August 2004: monitoring data incomplete (e.g. annual pesticide/semi-Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) screen tests were not carried out on bores B1, B2 and B3, monitoring at bores D4 and D5 not carried out).
- 8 October 2004: inadequate capping of the old landfill, with quantities of refuse remaining exposed, resulting in the forming of leachate. Leachate observed on the side of the old landfill, discharging to the stormwater drain, in breach of condition 19, consent 6010, and condition 5(b) of consent 6012.
- 10 and 16 December 2004: inadequate capping of old landfill non-compliant with conditions 14 and 15, consent 6010; poor management of windblown litter (consent 6009) with amounts of refuse being blown out of the landfill into surrounding vegetation; capping of old landfill also considered to be non-compliant with Landfill Management Plan in choice of capping materials and selection of vegetation cover. Detailed report requested as to how the closure of the old landfill would be remedied to meet the requirements of the consent conditions.
- 11 February 2005: leachate breakouts observed at two locations at the old landfill (conditions 19, 28, 29, consent 6010). Deadline set for reporting on permeability testing of old landfill cap of 1 April 2005.
- 1 April 2005: continued leachate seepage into stormwater drains observed (condition 19, consent 6010). Further capping advised.
- 10 June 2005: laboratory testing finds contaminated water in stormwater drain; source believed to be leachate run-off. Continued run-off of leachate beyond irrigation area (consent 6010, condition 19 and consent 102259, condition 11).
- 31 August 2005: annual report data insufficient due to "loss" of two bore holes (covered by leachate pond and sand hill) advised to redrill bore holes; absence of data for second year regarding pesticides/semi-VOC screen samples.
- 16 September 2005: abatement notice served for failure to comply with condition 3 of consent 6010 (annual pesticide/VOC screen tests). Subsequently complied with.
- 19 July 2006: leachate observed to be seeping from the sides of the old landfill. Believed to be entering the stormwater collection and soakage areas before discharging to groundwater.
- 1 September 2006: insufficient monitoring data included in the annual report 2005/06, including leachate irrigation data as required by condition 23 of consent 6010 (inspection date 1 September 2006).
- October 2006 January 2007: discharge of leachate beyond the leachate irrigation area in October 2006, in breach of condition 19 of consent 6010 (inspection date 3 October 2006). The inspection report advised that the leachate seep be remedied immediately, yet at a visit on 12 January 2007 the leachate seep remained unresolved. The officer's report notes that "it was clear during the inspection... that little has been done since October 2006...to remedy the problem". Further action to repair the cell was again advised and this appears to have been complied with by the inspection on 27 March 2007.

Appendix

19 April 2007: non-compliance with conditions 33 and 34 of consent 6009, by failing to convene a meeting of the Neighbourhood Liaison Group at least once per year and failing to provide members with a copy of the annual monitoring reports (report dated 19 April 2007). After the Group meeting on 31 January 2005, no further meetings appear to have been convened until a complaint was received by Horizons from a member of the Group in April 2007. Following consultation with HDC regarding this complaint, the Group was invited to a site meeting on 5 May 2007.

Appendix 2 : Examples of historic monitoring and enforcement

Management Plan

In May 2004, HDC was notified in a letter from Horizons that condition 14 of consent 6009 had not been complied with, in that a Management Plan for operations on the existing landfill had not been prepared to the satisfaction of the Regional Council by 31 December 2002. Although HDC had previously submitted a Management Plan as part of the Environment Court process in early 2002, Horizons did not consider that this dealt fully with the requirements of condition 14. It is unclear from the correspondence why Horizons took approximately 18 months to notify HDC that the Management Plan was considered to be inadequate and to request additional information in respect of the draft Management Plans. Given that the original management plan document was submitted by HDC well in advance of the December 2002 deadline, Horizons' response time is regarded as unsatisfactory.

The Landfill Management Plan for the existing site, dated May 2004, appears to largely be a replica of the Plan for the new site, with a significant focus on the operation of the site, such as waste acceptance criteria. In contrast, proposals for capping and aftercare are dealt with in two paragraphs and do not comply with the Ministry for the Environment's *Guidelines of Management of Closing and Closed Landfills in New Zealand* (May 2001). Capping is proposed to occur with composted green waste and/or sand, followed by seeding for pasture. Aftercare is simply described as including "maintenance of the cap and continued monitoring". The Plan was submitted to Horizons for approval in accordance with condition 14 of consent 6009. However, little action, if any, appears to have been taken to require HDC to rectify the lack of information in the 2004 Plan regarding remediation.

Consent review

In April 2005 PCE recommended to Horizons that it take advantage of a clause in the consents to review and tighten some of the consent conditions for the landfill. Horizons agreed and initiated a review in May 2005, but since then the review has failed to progress and has now been outstanding for nearly three years. This 2005 review was undertaken on a non-notified basis with little information publicly available regarding key milestones or the timeframe for completion. The Commissioner regards the process and timeframe of that previous review as unsatisfactory.

Compliance monitoring

At an inspection on 3 October 2006, leachate discharge beyond the leachate irrigation area was noted for the second time (also in October 2004). Immediate remedial work was advised, with a re-inspection to take place after two weeks to check what action had been taken. However, according to the Horizons monitoring reports, the next inspection did not take place until 12 January 2007, more than 14 weeks later. The January inspection report notes that little action had been taken to remedy the leachate seep in the intervening time. While compliance with consent conditions is the responsibility of the consent holder, the time between visits to the site is considered to be unsatisfactory, given the identified breach.

Enforcement action

In August 2005, HDC was advised by Horizons to redrill two destroyed bore holes. This does not appear to have been actioned by HDC. No enforcement action appears to have been taken to ensure that monitoring continued pursuant to the consent conditions.

Endnotes

Leachate seepages from the old landfill appear to have occurred on a regular basis. No enforcement action appears to have been taken to remedy this.

Horizons' monitoring reports note that the capping of the old landfill with sand and pine tree cover did not comply with the approved management plan, submitted pursuant to condition 14 of consent 6009 (which states that the surface of the landfill will be seeded for pasture). However, no enforcement action appears to have been taken.

Exceedence investigations

The monitoring reports submitted by HDC indicate that the standards set out in conditions 11–13 of consent 6010 were exceeded on a number of occasions. While these appear to have been communicated to Horizons, it is unclear what steps were taken by either authority "to determine if further investigation or remedial measures are required", as required by the consent conditions.

For example, on 15 June 2004 a Horizons monitoring report noted that bore 1 exceeded the lead limit of 0.1mg/l, and that bores E1s and E2s exceeded the Ministry of Health's *Drinking Water Standards for New Zealand*. According to the conditions, the Councils should have considered at this stage whether further investigations were required. However, the monitoring report "Suggested Actions" section is blank.

Similar examples can be noted in the monitoring reports dated 31 August 2004 and 31 August 2005.

While primary responsibility for compliance lies with HDC, it does not appear that Horizons has fully implemented its monitoring and enforcement role under conditions 11–13 in establishing whether HDC was taking steps "to determine if further investigation or remedial measures are required".

Endnotes

- 1. A guide to the management of closing and closed landfills in New Zealand, Ministry for the Environment, 2001.
- 2. The 2002 landfill review and audit, Ministry for the Environment, 2003.
- 3. Ministry for the Environment, 2000.
- 4. (1868) LR 3 HL 330.
- 5. A guide to landfill consent conditions, Ministry for the Environment, 2001:45.
- 6. New Zealand Waste Strategy, Ministry for the Environment, 2002.
- 7. New Zealand Waste Strategy, Ministry for the Environment, 2002.

Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment Te Kaitiaki Taiao a Te Whare Pāremata

PO Box 10 241 Wellington 6143, New Zealand Tel 64 4 471 1669, Fax 64 4 495 8350, Email pce@pce.parliament.nz

August 2008